# Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Bill [HL]

#### **EXPLANATORY NOTES**

Explanatory notes to the Bill, prepared by the Ministry of Justice, are published separately as Bill 79 – EN.

#### EUROPEAN CONVENTION ON HUMAN RIGHTS

Secretary Jack Straw has made the following statement under section 19(1)(a) of the Human Rights Act 1998:

In my view the provisions of the Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Bill [HL] are compatible with the Convention rights.

Bill 79 54/5

# Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Bill [HL]

#### **CONTENTS**

#### Transfer of rights to third parties

- Rights against insurer of insolvent person etc
- 2 Establishing liability in England and Wales and Northern Ireland
- 3 Establishing liability in Scotland

#### Relevant persons

- 4 Individuals
- 5 Individuals who die insolvent
- 6 Corporate bodies etc
- 7 Scottish trusts

#### Transferred rights: supplemental

- 8 Limit on rights transferred
- Conditions affecting transferred rights
- 10 Insurer's right of set off

#### Provision of information etc

Information and disclosure for third parties

#### Enforcement of transferred rights

- 12 Limitation and prescription
- Jurisdiction within the United Kingdom

#### Enforcement of insured's liability

14 Effect of transfer on insured's liability

#### Application of Act

- 15 Reinsurance
- 16 Voluntarily-incurred liabilities17 Avoidance
- 18 Cases with a foreign element

Bill 79 54/5

### Supplemental

- Power to amend Act
- 20 Amendments, transitionals, repeals, etc
- 21 Short title, commencement and extent

Schedule 1 — Information and disclosure for third parties Schedule 2 — Amendments Schedule 3 — Transitory, transitional and saving provisions Schedule 4 — Repeals and revocations

# BILL

TO

Make provision about the rights of third parties against insurers of liabilities to third parties in the case where the insured is insolvent, and in certain other cases.

**B** E IT ENACTED by the Queen's most Excellent Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Lords Spiritual and Temporal, and Commons, in this present Parliament assembled, and by the authority of the same, as follows: –

#### Transfer of rights to third parties

(5) In this Act—

	Rights against insurer of insolvent person etc		
(1)	<ul> <li>This section applies if — <ul> <li>(a) a relevant person incurs a liability against which that person is insured under a contract of insurance, or</li> <li>(b) a person who is subject to such a liability becomes a relevant person.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	5	
(2)	The rights of the relevant person under the contract against the insurer in respect of the liability are transferred to and vest in the person to whom the liability is or was incurred (the "third party").		
(3)	The third party may bring proceedings to enforce the rights against the insurer without having established the relevant person's liability; but the third party may not enforce those rights without having established that liability.		
(4)	For the purposes of this Act, a liability is established only if its existence and amount are established; and, for that purpose, "establish" means establish—  (a) by virtue of a declaration under section 2 or a declarator under section 3,  (b) by a judgment or decree,  (c) by an award in arbitral proceedings or by an arbitration, or  (d) by an enforceable agreement.	15	

Bill 79 54/5

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (a) references to an "insured" are to a person who incurs or who is subject to a liability to a third party against which that person is insured under a contract of insurance;
- (b) references to a "relevant person" are to a person within sections 4 to 7;
- (c) references to a "third party" are to be construed in accordance with subsection (2);
- (d) references to "transferred rights" are to rights under a contract of insurance which are transferred under this section.

#### 2 Establishing liability in England and Wales and Northern Ireland

- (1) This section applies where a person (P)
  - claims to have rights under a contract of insurance by virtue of a transfer under section 1, but
  - (b) has not yet established the insured's liability which is insured under that contract.
- (2) P may bring proceedings against the insurer for either or both of the following
  - (a) a declaration as to the insured's liability to P;
  - (b) a declaration as to the insurer's potential liability to P.
- (3) In such proceedings P is entitled, subject to any defence on which the insurer may rely, to a declaration under subsection (2)(a) or (b) on proof of the insured's liability to P or (as the case may be) the insurer's potential liability to P.
- (4) Where proceedings are brought under subsection (2)(a) the insurer may rely on any defence on which the insured could rely if those proceedings were proceedings brought against the insured in respect of the insured's liability to P.
- (5) Subsection (4) is subject to section 12(1).
- (6) Where the court makes a declaration under this section, the effect of which is that the insurer is liable to P, the court may give the appropriate judgment against the insurer.
- (7) Where a person applying for a declaration under subsection (2)(b) is entitled or required, by virtue of the contract of insurance, to do so in arbitral proceedings, that person may also apply in the same proceedings for a declaration under subsection (2)(a).
- (8) In the application of this section to arbitral proceedings, subsection (6) is to be read as if "tribunal" were substituted for "court" and "make the appropriate award" for "give the appropriate judgment".
- (9) When bringing proceedings under subsection (2)(a), P may also make the insured a defendant to those proceedings.
- (10) If (but only if) the insured is a defendant to proceedings under this section (whether by virtue of subsection (9) or otherwise), a declaration under subsection (2) binds the insured as well as the insurer.
- (11) In this section, references to the insurer's potential liability to P are references to the insurer's liability in respect of the insured's liability to P, if established.

10

15

25

30

40

#### 3 Establishing liability in Scotland

- (1) This section applies where a person (P)
  - (a) claims to have rights under a contract of insurance by virtue of a transfer under section 1, but
  - (b) has not yet established the insured's liability which is insured under that contract.
- (2) P may bring proceedings against the insurer for either or both of the following
  - (a) a declarator as to the insured's liability to P;
  - (b) a declarator as to the insurer's potential liability to P.

(3) Where proceedings are brought under subsection (2)(a) the insurer may rely on any defence on which the insured could rely if those proceedings were proceedings brought against the insured in respect of the insured's liability to P.

- (4) Subsection (3) is subject to section 12(1).
- (5) Where the court grants a declarator under this section, the effect of which is that the insurer is liable to P, the court may grant the appropriate decree against the insurer.
- (6) Where a person applying for a declarator under subsection (2)(b) is entitled or required, by virtue of the contract of insurance, to do so in an arbitration, that person may also apply in the same arbitration for a declarator under subsection (2)(a).
- (7) In the application of this section to an arbitration, subsection (5) is to be read as if "tribunal" were substituted for "court" and "make the appropriate award" for "grant the appropriate decree".
- (8) When bringing proceedings under subsection (2)(a), P may also make the insured a defender to those proceedings.
- (9) If (but only if) the insured is a defender to proceedings under this section (whether by virtue of subsection (8) or otherwise), a declarator under subsection (2) binds the insured as well as the insurer.
- (10) In this section, the reference to the insurer's potential liability to P is a reference to the insurer's liability in respect of the insured's liability to P, if established.

#### Relevant persons

#### 4 Individuals

- (1) An individual is a relevant person if any of the following is in force in respect of that individual in England and Wales
  - (a) a deed of arrangement registered in accordance with the Deeds of Arrangement Act 1914,
  - (b) an administration order made under Part 6 of the County Courts Act 1984,
  - (c) an enforcement restriction order made under Part 6A of that Act,
  - (d) subject to subsection (4), a debt relief order made under Part 7A of the Insolvency Act 1986,

	(e)	a voluntary arrangement approved in accordance with Part 8 of that Act, or			
	(f)	a bankruptcy order made under Part 9 of that Act.			
(2)	An individual is a relevant person if any of the following is in force in respect of that individual (or, in the case of paragraph (a) or (b), that individual's estate) in Scotland —				
	(a)	an award of sequestration made under section 5 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985,			
	(b)	a protected trust deed within the meaning of that Act, or			
	(c)	a composition approved in accordance with Schedule 4 to that Act.	10		
(3)		dividual is a relevant person if any of the following is in force in respect individual in Northern Ireland —			
	(a)	an administration order made under Part 6 of the Judgments Enforcement (Northern Ireland) Order 1981 (S.I. 1981/226 (N.I. 6)),			
	(b)	a deed of arrangement registered in accordance with Chapter 1 of Part 8 of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989 (S.I. 1989/2405 (N.I. 19)),	15		
	(c)	a voluntary arrangement approved under Chapter 2 of Part 8 of that Order, or			
	(d)	a bankruptcy order made under Part 9 of that Order.	20		
(4)	If an individual is a relevant person by virtue of subsection (1)(d), that person is a relevant person for the purposes of section 1(1)(b) only.				
(5)	(Scotla under	e an award of sequestration made under section 5 of the Bankruptcy and) Act 1985 is recalled or reduced, any rights which were transferred section 1 as a result of that award are re-transferred to and vest in the who became a relevant person as a result of the award.	25		
(6)	made reduce	e an order discharging an individual from an award of sequestration under section 5 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985 is recalled or ed under paragraph 17 or 18 of Schedule 4 to that Act, the order is to be d for the purposes of this section as never having been made.	30		
	Individ	uals who die insolvent			
(1)		dividual who dies insolvent is a relevant person for the purposes of $1(1)(b)$ only.			
(2)		e purposes of this section an individual (D) is to be regarded as having asolvent if, following D's death—	35		
	(a)	D's estate falls to be administered in accordance with an order under section 421 of the Insolvency Act 1986 or Article 365 of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989 (S.I. 1989/2405 (N. I. 19)),			
	(b)	an award of sequestration is made under section 5 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985 in respect of D's estate and the award is not recalled or reduced, or	40		
	(c)	a judicial factor is appointed under section 11A of the Judicial Factors (Scotland) Act 1889 in respect of D's estate and the judicial factor certifies that the estate is absolutely insolvent within the meaning of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985.	45		

(3) Where a transfer of rights under section 1 takes place as a result of an insured person being a relevant person by virtue of this section, references in this Act to an insured are, where the context so requires, to be read as references to the insured's estate.

6	Corporate	bodies	etc
---	-----------	--------	-----

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (1) A body corporate or an unincorporated body is a relevant person if
  - (a) a compromise or arrangement between the body and its creditors (or a class of them) is in force, having been sanctioned in accordance with section 899 of the Companies Act 2006, or
  - (b) the body has been dissolved under section 1000, 1001 or 1003 of that Act, and the body has not been
    - (i) restored to the register by virtue of section 1025 of that Act, or
    - (ii) ordered to be restored to the register by virtue of section 1031 of that Act.
- (2) A body corporate or an unincorporated body is a relevant person if, in England and Wales or Scotland
  - (a) a voluntary arrangement approved in accordance with Part 1 of the Insolvency Act 1986 is in force in respect of it,
  - (b) an administration order made under Part 2 of that Act is in force in respect of it,
  - (c) there is a person appointed in accordance with Part 3 of that Act who is acting as receiver or manager of the body's property (or there would be such a person so acting but for a temporary vacancy),
  - (d) the body is, or is being, wound up voluntarily in accordance with Chapter 2 of Part 4 of that Act,
  - (e) there is a person appointed under section 135 of that Act who is acting as provisional liquidator in respect of the body (or there would be such a person so acting but for a temporary vacancy), or
  - (f) the body is, or is being, wound up by the court following the making of a winding-up order under Chapter 6 of Part 4 of that Act or Part 5 of that Act.
- (3) A body corporate or an unincorporated body is a relevant person if, in Scotland
  - (a) an award of sequestration has been made under section 6 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985 in respect of the body's estate, and the body has not been discharged under that Act,
  - (b) the body has been dissolved and an award of sequestration has been made under that section in respect of its estate,
  - (c) a protected trust deed within the meaning of the Bankruptcy (Scotland)
    Act 1985 is in force in respect of the body's estate, or
  - (d) a composition approved in accordance with Schedule 4 to that Act is in force in respect of the body.
- (4) A body corporate or an unincorporated body is a relevant person if, in Northern Ireland
  - (a) a voluntary arrangement approved in accordance with Part 2 of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989 (S.I. 1989/2405 (N. I. 19)) is in force in respect of the body,

10

15

30

35

40

45

- (b) an administration order made under Part 3 of that Order is in force in respect of the body,
- (c) there is a person appointed in accordance with Part 4 of that Order who is acting as receiver or manager of the body's property (or there would be such a person so acting but for a temporary vacancy),
- (d) the body is, or is being, wound up voluntarily in accordance with Chapter 2 of Part 5 of that Order,
- (e) there is a person appointed under Article 115 of that Order who is acting as provisional liquidator in respect of the body (or there would be such a person so acting but for a temporary vacancy), or
- (f) the body is, or is being, wound up by the court following the making of a winding-up order under Chapter 6 of Part 5 of that Order or Part 6 of that Order.
- (5) A body within subsection (1)(a) is not a relevant person in relation to a liability that is transferred to another body by the order sanctioning the compromise or arrangement.
- (6) Where a body is a relevant person by virtue of subsection (1)(a), section 1 has effect to transfer rights only to a person on whom the compromise or arrangement is binding.
- (7) Where an award of sequestration made under section 6 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985 is recalled or reduced, any rights which were transferred under section 1 as a result of that award are re-transferred to and vest in the person who became a relevant person as a result of the award.
- (8) Where an order discharging a body from an award of sequestration made under section 6 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985 is recalled or reduced under paragraph 17 or 18 of Schedule 4 to that Act, the order is to be treated for the purposes of this section as never having been made.
- (9) In this section
  - (a) a reference to a person appointed in accordance with Part 3 of the Insolvency Act 1986 includes a reference to a person appointed under section 101 of the Law of Property Act 1925;
  - (b) a reference to a receiver or manager of a body's property includes a reference to a receiver or manager of part only of the property and to a receiver only of the income arising from the property or from part of it;
  - (c) for the purposes of subsection (3) "body corporate or unincorporated body" includes any entity, other than a trust, the estate of which may be sequestrated under section 6 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985;
  - (d) a reference to a person appointed in accordance with Part 4 of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989 (S.I. 1989/2405 (N. I. 19)) includes a reference to a person appointed under section 19 of the Conveyancing Act 1881.

#### 7 Scottish trusts

- (1) A trustee of a Scottish trust is, in respect of a liability of that trustee that falls to be met out of the trust estate, a relevant person if
  - (a) an award of sequestration has been made under section 6 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985 in respect of the trust estate, and the trust has not been discharged under that Act,

10

15

20

30

35

- (b) a protected trust deed within the meaning of that Act is in force in respect of the trust estate, or
- (c) a composition approved in accordance with Schedule 4 to that Act is in force in respect of the trust estate.
- (2) Where an award of sequestration made under section 6 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985 is recalled or reduced any rights which were transferred under section 1 as a result of that award are re-transferred to and vest in the person who became a relevant person as a result of the award.
- (3) Where an order discharging an individual, body or trust from an award of sequestration made under section 6 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985 is recalled or reduced under paragraph 17 or 18 of Schedule 4 to that Act, the order is to be treated for the purposes of this section as never having been made.
- (4) In this section "Scottish trust" means a trust the estate of which may be sequestrated under section 6 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985.

#### Transferred rights: supplemental

#### 8 Limit on rights transferred

Where the liability of an insured to a third party is less than the liability of the insurer to the insured (ignoring the effect of section 1), no rights are transferred under that section in respect of the difference.

### 9 Conditions affecting transferred rights

- (1) This section applies where transferred rights are subject to a condition (whether under the contract of insurance from which the transferred rights are derived or otherwise) that the insured has to fulfil.
- (2) Anything done by the third party which, if done by the insured, would have amounted to or contributed to fulfilment of the condition is to be treated as if done by the insured.
- (3) The transferred rights are not subject to a condition requiring the insured to provide information or assistance to the insurer if that condition cannot be fulfilled because the insured is
  - (a) an individual who has died, or
  - (b) a body corporate that has been dissolved.
- (4) A condition requiring the insured to provide information or assistance to the insurer does not include a condition requiring the insured to notify the insurer of the existence of a claim under the contract of insurance.
- (5) The transferred rights are not subject to a condition requiring the prior discharge by the insured of the insured's liability to the third party.
- (6) In the case of a contract of marine insurance, subsection (5) applies only to the extent that the liability of the insured is a liability in respect of death or personal injury.
- (7) In this section –

"contract of marine insurance" has the meaning given by section 1 of the Marine Insurance Act 1906;

8		Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Bill [HL]	
	(a) (b) (c) "persor	section 1000, 1001 or 1003 of the Companies Act 2006, or	5
10	Insurer's righ	nt of set off	
(1)	to a t (b) the in	s of an insured under a contract of insurance have been transferred third party under section 1, nsured is under a liability to the insurer under the contract ("the	10
	(c) if the set of	red's liability"), and ere had been no transfer, the insurer would have been entitled to ff the amount of the insured's liability against the amount of the rer's own liability to the insured.	15
(2)		is entitled to set off the amount of the insured's liability against the the insurer's own liability to the third party in relation to the rights.	
		Provision of information etc	20
11	Information a	and disclosure for third parties	
	Schedule 1 (i	information and disclosure for third parties) has effect.	
		Enforcement of transferred rights	
12	Limitation an	nd prescription	
(1)	under section proceedings	(2) applies where a person brings proceedings for a declaration on 2(2)(a), or for a declarator under section 3(2)(a), and the are started or, in Scotland, commenced—	25
	the i	the expiry of a period of limitation applicable to an action against insured to enforce the insured's liability, or of a period of cription applicable to that liability, but e such an action is in progress.	30
(2)		may not rely on the expiry of that period as a defence unless the ble to rely on it in the action against the insured.	
(3)	progress if it	poses of subsection (1), an action is to be treated as no longer in has been concluded by a judgment or decree, or by an award, even appeal or a right of appeal.	35
(4)	person bring	rson who has already established an insured's liability to that gs proceedings under this Act against the insurer, nothing in this read as meaning—	

14

	. 0		
	(a) (b)	that, for the purposes of the law of limitation in England and Wales, that person's cause of action against the insurer arose otherwise than at the time when that person established the liability of the insured, that, for the purposes of the law of prescription in Scotland, the obligation in respect of which the proceedings are brought became enforceable against the insurer otherwise than at that time, or	5
	(c)	that, for the purposes of the law of limitation in Northern Ireland, that person's cause of action against the insurer arose otherwise than at the time when that person established the liability of the insured.	
3	Jurisdio	ction within the United Kingdom	10
(1)	bring <sub>]</sub> P may domic	e a person (P) domiciled in a part of the United Kingdom is entitled to proceedings under this Act against an insurer domiciled in another part, do so in the part where P is domiciled or in the part where the insurer is iled (whatever the contract of insurance may stipulate as to where edings are to be brought).	15
(2)		ollowing provisions of the Civil Jurisdiction and Judgments Act 1982 ng to determination of domicile) apply for the purposes of subsection	
	(a) (b) (c) (d)	section 41(2), (3), (5) and (6) (individuals); section 42(1), (3), (4) and (8) (corporations and associations); section 45(2) and (3) (trusts); section 46(1), (3) and (7) (the Crown).	20
(3)		edule 5 to that Act (proceedings excluded from general provisions as to ion of jurisdiction within the United Kingdom) at the end add—	
	"Proce	edings by third parties against insurers	25
	11	Proceedings under the Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 2010."	
		Enforcement of insured's liability	
Į	Effect o	of transfer on insured's liability	
(1)	under only t	erights in respect of an insured's liability to a third party are transferred section 1, the third party may enforce that liability against the insured of the extent (if any) that it exceeds the amount recoverable from the r by virtue of the transfer.	30
(2)		ction (3) applies if a transfer of rights under section 1 occurs because the d person is a relevant person by virtue of — section 4(1)(a) or (e), (2)(b) or (3)(b) or (c), section 6(1)(a), (2)(a), (3)(c) or (4)(a), or section 7(1)(b).	35
(3)	of whi	iability is subject to the arrangement, trust deed or compromise by virtue ch the insured is a relevant person, the liability is to be treated as subject t arrangement, trust deed or compromise only to the extent that the y exceeds the amount recoverable from the insurer by virtue of the er.	40

10	Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Bill [HL]				
(4)	Subsection (5) applies if a transfer of rights under section 1 occurs in respect of a liability which, after the transfer, becomes one that is subject to a composition approved in accordance with Schedule 4 to the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985.				
(5)	The liability is to be treated as subject to the composition only to the extent that the liability exceeds the amount recoverable from the insurer by virtue of the transfer.				
(6)	For the purposes of this section the amount recoverable from the insurer does not include any amount that the third party is unable to recover as a result of—  (a) a shortage of assets on the insurer's part, in a case where the insurer is a relevant person, or  (b) a limit set by the contract of insurance on the fund available to meet claims in respect of a particular description of liability of the insured.	10			
(7)	Where a third party is eligible to make a claim in respect of the insurer's liability under or by virtue of rules made under Part 15 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the Financial Services Compensation Scheme) —  (a) subsection (6)(a) applies only if the third party has made such a claim, and	15			
	(b) the third party is to be treated as being able to recover from the insurer any amount paid to, or due to, the third party as a result of the claim.	20			
	Application of Act				
15	Reinsurance				
	This Act does not apply to a case where the liability referred to in section 1(1) is itself a liability incurred by an insurer under a contract of insurance.				
16	Voluntarily-incurred liabilities	25			
	It is irrelevant for the purposes of section 1 whether or not the liability of the insured is or was incurred voluntarily.				
17	Avoidance				
(1)	A contract of insurance to which this section applies is of no effect in so far as it purports, whether directly or indirectly, to avoid or terminate the contract or alter the rights of the parties under it in the event of the insured —  (a) becoming a relevant person, or  (b) dying insolvent (within the meaning given by section 5(2)).	30			

- (2) A contract of insurance is one to which this section applies if the insured's rights under it are capable of being transferred under section 1.

35

#### 18 Cases with a foreign element

Except as expressly provided, the application of this Act does not depend on whether there is a connection with a part of the United Kingdom; and in particular it does not depend on –

20

21

(6)

	(a)	whether or not the liability (or the alleged liability) of the insured to the third party was incurred in, or under the law of, England and Wales, Scotland or Northern Ireland;	
	(b)	the place of residence or domicile of any of the parties;	
	(c)	whether or not the contract of insurance (or a part of it) is governed by the law of England and Wales, Scotland or Northern Ireland;	5
	(d)	the place where sums due under the contract of insurance are payable.	
		Supplemental	
)	Power	to amend Act	
(1)		ecretary of State may by order made by statutory instrument amend a 4, 5 or 6 so as to —	10
	(a)	substitute a reference to a provision of Northern Ireland legislation with a reference to a different provision of Northern Ireland legislation, or	
	(b)	add a reference to a provision of a description within subsection (2).	15
(2)	A pro	vision is within this subsection if —	
	(a) (b)	it is made by or under Northern Ireland legislation, and in the opinion of the Secretary of State, it corresponds with a provision under the law of England and Wales or the law of Scotland that is referred to in the section being amended.	20
(3)		rder under this section may include consequential, incidental, ementary, transitional, transitory or saving provision.	
(4)	instru	der under this section may not be made unless a draft of the statutory ment containing the order has been laid before, and approved by a tion of, each House of Parliament.	25
)	Amend	ments, transitionals, repeals, etc	
(1)	Sched	ule 2 (amendments) has effect.	
(2)	Sched	ule 3 (transitory, transitional and saving provisions) has effect.	
(3)	Sched	ule 4 (repeals and revocations) has effect.	
	Short ti	itle, commencement and extent	30
(1)	This A	act may be cited as the Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 2010.	
(2)		act comes into force on such day as the Secretary of State may by order by statutory instrument appoint.	
(3)	This A	act extends to England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland, subject ows.	35
(4)	Section	n 2 and paragraphs 3 and 4 of Schedule 1 do not extend to Scotland.	
(5)	Section	n 3 extends to Scotland only.	

Any amendment, repeal or revocation made by this Act has the same extent as the provision to which it relates.

### SCHEDULES

#### SCHEDULE 1 Section 11

#### INFORMATION AND DISCLOSURE FOR THIRD PARTIES

#### Ν

Jotic	es re	questing	g inform	ation	
1	(1)	(a) (b) A may	anothe B is a r by no	er person (B) has incurred a liability to A, and relevant person, tice in writing, request from B such information falling within h (3) as the notice specifies.	5
	(2)	If a per (a) (b)	a liabi the pe	) reasonably believes that— lity has been incurred to A, erson who incurred the liability is insured against it under a act of insurance,	10
		(c)		of that person under the contract have been transferred to A section 1, and	15
		(d)	there i	s a person (C) who is able to provide information falling within aragraph (3),	
				tice in writing, request from C such information falling within graph as the notice specifies.	
	(3)	The fo (a) (b)	wheth liabilit	g is the information that falls within this sub-paragraph— ter there is a contract of insurance that covers the supposed ty or might reasonably be regarded as covering it; e is such a contract—	20
			(i) (ii) (iii)	who the insurer is; what the terms of the contract are; whether the insured has been informed that the insurer has claimed not to be liable under the contract in respect of the supposed liability;	25
			(iv)	whether there are or have been any proceedings between the insurer and the insured in respect of the supposed liability and, if so, relevant details of those proceedings;	30
			(v)	in a case where the contract sets a limit on the fund available to meet claims in respect of the supposed liability and other liabilities, how much of it (if any) has been paid out in respect of other liabilities;	35
			(vi)	whether there is a fixed charge to which any sums paid out under the contract in respect of the supposed liability would be subject.	

	are –			
	(a)		case of court proceedings –	
		(i)	the name of the court;	
		(ii)	the case number;	5
		(iii)	the contents of all documents served in the proceedings in accordance with rules of court or orders made in the proceedings, and the contents of any such orders;	
	(b)	(i)	the name of the arbitrator; information corresponding with that mentioned in paragraph (a)(iii).	10
(5)	means	a fixed	aph (3)(b)(vi), in its application to Scotland, "fixed charge" I security within the meaning given by section 47(1) of the nd Diligence etc (Scotland) Act 2007 (asp 3).	15
(6)			by a person under this paragraph must include particulars of hich that person relies as entitlement to give the notice.	
Provision	of infor	mation u	vhere notice given under paragraph 1	
2 (1)		of 28 da provid	who receives a notice under paragraph 1 must, within the ays beginning with the day of receipt of the notice— e to the person who gave the notice any information specified	20
		in it tha	at R is able to provide;	
	(b)		tion to any such information that R is not able to provide, that person why R is not able to provide it.	
(2)	Where	<u>-</u>		25
	(a)	a perso	on (R) receives a notice under paragraph 1,	
	(b)		is information specified in the notice that R is not able to because it is contained in a document that is not in R's l,	
	(c)		cument was at one time in R's control, and	30
	(d)	R knov	vs or believes that it is now in another person's control,	
	notice	, provide	n the period of 28 days beginning with the day of receipt of the e the person who gave the notice with whatever particulars R ature of the information and the identity of that other person.	
(3)	who g		mply with a duty imposed on R by this paragraph, the person e notice may apply to court for an order requiring R to comply	35
(4)	which confid	a clai entiality	s by virtue of this paragraph in respect of information as to im to legal professional privilege or, in Scotland, to as between client and professional legal adviser could be legal proceedings.	40
Notices re	quiring	disclosur	re: defunct bodies	

(4) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (3)(b)(iv), relevant details of proceedings

3 (1) If—

		(a)	a person (P) has started proceedings under this Act against an insurer in respect of a liability that P claims has been incurred to P by a body corporate, and	
		P may	the body is defunct, by notice in writing require a person to whom sub-paragraph (2) to disclose to P any documents that are relevant to that liability.	5
	(2)	This su (a) (b)	ib-paragraph applies to a person if— immediately before the time of the alleged transfer under section 1, that person was an officer or employee of the body, or immediately before the body became defunct, that person was—	10
		(0)	(i) acting as an insolvency practitioner in relation to the body (within the meaning given by section 388(1) of the Insolvency Act 1986 or Article 3 of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989 (S.I. 1989/2405 N.I. 19)), or	15
			(ii) acting as the official receiver in relation to the winding up of the body.	13
	(3)		ce under this paragraph must be accompanied by —	
		(a)	a copy of the particulars of claim required to be served in connection with the proceedings mentioned in sub-paragraph (1), or	
		(b)	where those proceedings are arbitral proceedings, the particulars of claim that would be required to be so served if they were court proceedings.	20
	(4)		e purposes of this paragraph a body corporate is defunct if, subject to ragraph (5), it has been dissolved under—	
		(a) (b)	Chapter 9 of Part 4 of the Insolvency Act 1986, Chapter 9 of Part 5 of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989 (S.I. 1989/2405 N.I. 19)), or	25
		(c)	section 1000, 1001 or 1003 of the Companies Act 2006.	
	(5)		ody corporate is not defunct for the purposes of this paragraph if the las been—	30
		(a)	restored to the register by virtue of section 1025 of the Companies Act 2006, or	
		(b)	ordered to be restored to the register by virtue of section 1031 of that Act.	
Disclos	sure	and ins	spection where notice given under paragraph 3	35
4	(1)		t to the provisions of this paragraph and to any necessary cations—	
		(a)	the duties of disclosure of a person who receives a notice under paragraph 3, and	
		(b)	the rights of inspection of the person giving the notice,	40
		Rules	same as the corresponding duties and rights under Civil Procedure of parties to court proceedings in which an order for standard ure has been made.	
	(2)		paragraph (1), in its application to Northern Ireland –	
		(a)	the reference to Civil Procedure Rules is –	45

copies of it.

	- Information and disclosure for third parties	
	(i) in the case of proceedings in the High Court, to be read as a reference to the Rules of the Court of Judicature (Northern Ireland) 1980 (S.R. 1980 No. 346), and	
	(ii) in the case of proceedings in the county court, to be read as a reference to the County Court Rules (Northern Ireland) 1981 (S.R. 1981 No. 225), and	
	(b) the reference to an order for standard disclosure is to be read as a reference to an order for discovery.	
(3)	A person who by virtue of sub-paragraph (1) or (2) has to serve a list of documents must do so within the period of 28 days beginning with the day of receipt of the notice.	
(4)	A person who has received a notice under paragraph 3 and has served a list of documents in response to it is not under a duty of disclosure by reason of that notice in relation to documents that the person did not have when the list was served.	
Avoidanc	e	
5	A contract of insurance is of no effect in so far as it purports, whether directly or indirectly —	
	(a) to avoid or terminate the contract or alter the rights of the parties under it in the event of a person providing information, or giving disclosure, that the person is required to provide or give by virtue of a notice under paragraph 1 or 3, or	
	(b) otherwise to prohibit, prevent or restrict a person from providing such information or giving such disclosure.	
Other rig	hts to information etc	
6	Rights to information, or to inspection of documents, that a person has by virtue of paragraph 1 or 3 are in addition to any such rights as the person has apart from that paragraph.	
Interpreta	tion	
7	For the purposes of this Schedule —  (a) a person is able to provide information only if —  (i) that person can obtain it without undue difficulty from a document that is in that person's control, or	
	<ul><li>(ii) where that person is an individual, the information is within that person's knowledge;</li><li>(b) a document is in a person's control if it is in that person's possession or if that person has a right to possession of it or to inspect or take</li></ul>	

#### SCHEDULE 2

Section 20

#### **AMENDMENTS**

Road Traffic (Northern Ireland) Order 1981 (S.I. 1981/154 (N.I. 1))

In Article 100 of the Road Traffic (Northern Ireland) Order 1981 (bankruptcy etc of insured persons not to affect certain claims by third-parties) —

5

- (a) for "such event as is mentioned in section 1(1) of the Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act (Northern Ireland) 1930" substitute "event which results in that person being a relevant person for the purposes of the Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 2010", and
- (b) for "the said Act of 1930" substitute "that Act".

10

Road Traffic Act 1988 (c. 52)

- In section 153 of the Road Traffic Act 1988 (bankruptcy etc of insured or secured persons not to affect claims by third parties)
  - (a) in subsection (1), for "any of the events mentioned in subsection (2) below" substitute "an event which results in that person being a relevant person for the purposes of the Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 2010",

15

- (b) in that subsection, for "Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 1930" substitute "that Act",
- (c) omit subsection (2), and

20

(d) in subsection (3), for "Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 1930" substitute "Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 2010".

Merchant Shipping Act 1995 (c. 21)

In section 165 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995 (rights of third parties against insurers), in subsection (5), for "Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 1930 and the Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act (Northern Ireland) 1930" substitute "Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 2010".

25

Cross-Border Insolvency Regulations 2006 (S.I. 2006/1030)

In paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 to the Cross-Border Insolvency Regulations 2006 (scope of Article 1), for "Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 1930" substitute "Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 2010".

30

Cross-Border Insolvency Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2007 (S.R. 2007/115)

In paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 to the Cross-Border Insolvency Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2007 (scope of Article 1), for "Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act (Northern Ireland) 1930" substitute "Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 2010".

#### **SCHEDULE 3**

Section 20

#### TRANSITORY, TRANSITIONAL AND SAVING PROVISIONS

1 (1) Section 1(1)(a) applies where the insured became a relevant person before, as well as when the insured becomes such a person on or after, commencement day.

5

- (2) Section 1(1)(b) applies where the liability was incurred before, as well as where it is incurred on or after, commencement day.
- 2 Until the coming into force of section 47(1) of the Bankruptcy and Diligence etc (Scotland) Act 2007 (asp 3), the reference to that provision in paragraph 1(5) of Schedule 1 is to be read as a reference to section 486(1) of the Companies Act 1985.

10

- Despite its repeal by this Act, the Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 1930 continues to apply in relation to—
  - (a) cases where the event referred to in subsection (1) of section 1 of that Act and the incurring of the liability referred to in that subsection both happened before commencement day;

15

- (b) cases where the death of the deceased person referred to in subsection (2) of that section happened before that day.
- Despite its repeal by this Act, the Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act (Northern Ireland) 1930 continues to apply in relation to—

20

- (a) cases where the event referred to in subsection (1) of section 1 of that Act and the incurring of the liability referred to in that subsection both happened before commencement day;
- (b) cases where the death of the deceased person referred to in subsection (2) of that section happened before that day.

25

In this Schedule "commencement day" means the day on which this Act comes into force.

#### **SCHEDULE 4**

Section 20

#### REPEALS AND REVOCATIONS

Title	Extent of repeal or revocation	30
Third Parties (Rights Against Insurers) Act (Northern Ireland) 1930 (c. 19)	The whole Act.	
Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 1930 (c. 25)	The whole Act.	35
Insolvency Act 1985 (c. 65)	In Schedule 8, paragraph 7 and the cross heading preceding it.	
Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985 (c. 66)	In Schedule 7, paragraph 6 and the cross heading preceding it.	
Insolvency Act 1986 (c. 45)	In Schedule 14, the entries relating to the Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Act 1930.	40

Title	Extent of repeal or revocation	
Road Traffic Act 1988 (c. 52)	Section 153(2).	
Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989 (S.I. 1989/2405 (N.I. 19))	In Schedule 9, paragraphs 63 to 65 and the cross heading preceding paragraph 63.	5
Limited Liability Partnerships Regulations 2001 (S.I. 2001/ 1090)	In Schedule 5, paragraph 2 and the cross heading preceding it.	
Enterprise Act 2002 (Insolvency) Order 2003 (S.I. 2003/2096)	In the Schedule, paragraphs 1 to 3 and the cross heading preceding paragraph 1.	10
Limited Liability Partnership Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2004 (S.R. 2004 No. 307)	In Schedule 4, paragraph 2 and the cross heading preceding it.	15
Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 2005 (S.I. 2005/1455 (N.I. 10))	In Schedule 2, paragraphs 2 to 4 and the cross heading preceding paragraph 2.	

# Third Parties (Rights against Insurers) Bill [HL]

# BILL

To make provision about the rights of third parties against insurers of liabilities to third parties in the case where the insured is insolvent, and in certain other cases.

Brought from the Lords 1 March 2010.

Ordered, by The House of Commons, to be Printed, 1 March 2010

© Parliamentary copyright House of Lords and House of Commons 2010 Applications for reproduction should be made in writing to the Information Policy Team, Office of Public Sector Information, Kew, Richmond, Surrey TW9 4DU

PUBLISHED BY AUTHORITY OF THE HOUSE OF LORDS AND HOUSE OF COMMONS LONDON — THE STATIONERY OFFICE LIMITED Printed in the United Kingdom by The Stationery Office Limited  $\pounds x.xx$ 

Bill 79 (xxxxxx) 54/5